
From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of FGG, CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 10-1-25
Date: Wednesday, October 1, 2025 1:16:04 PM

Supervisors take final step to approve first-of-its-kind civilian oversight of jail healthcare providers
 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/09/30/supervisors-take-final-step-to-approve-first-of-
its-kind-civilian-oversight-of-jail-healthcare-providers/

 
PBS Newshour (7:25 mark)
https://youtu.be/3Bq8Yah50k8?list=PL2BEE055A0FBFA666
 
 
San Diego County Supervisors to vote on strengthening law enforcement oversight board
– Telemundo San Diego (20)
 
 
Best regards - Brett
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE
Monday, October 6, 2025
Governor's Press Office: (916) 445-4571

Governor Newsom issues
legislative update 10.6.25

 

SACRAMENTO – Governor Gavin Newsom today announced that he has
signed the following bills:

AB 39 by Assemblymember Rick Chavez Zbur (D-Los Angeles) –
General plans: Local Electrification Planning Act.

AB 91 by Assemblymember John Harabedian (D-Pasadena) – State
and local agencies: demographic data.

AB 268 by Assemblymember Ash Kalra (D-San Jose) – State holidays:
Diwali.

AB 293 by Assemblymember Steve Bennett (D-Ventura) –
Groundwater sustainability agency: transparency.

From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of FGG, CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Update: AB 847 signed by Governor Newsom (in effect 1/1/26)
Date: Tuesday, October 7, 2025 11:18:11 AM
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AB 344 by Assemblymember Avelino Valencia (D-Anaheim) –
Alcoholic beverages: beer price posting and marketing regulations:
definitions.

AB 365 by Assemblymember Pilar Schiavo (D-Santa Clarita) – The
Justin Kropp Safety Act: electrical utilities: AED availability at
worksites.

AB 383 by Assemblymember Laurie Davies (R-Laguna Niguel) –
Firearms: prohibition: minors.

AB 447 by Assemblymember Mark González (D-Los Angeles) –
Emergency room patient prescriptions.

AB 450 by Assemblymember Juan Carrillo (D-Palmdale) – Public social
services: support for older and aging immigrants.

AB 454 by Assemblymember Ash Kalra (D- San Jose) – Migratory
birds: California Migratory Bird Protection Act.

AB 471 by Assemblymember Gregg Hart (D-Santa Barbara) – County
air pollution control districts: Antelope Valley Air Quality
Management District: board members: compensation.

AB 486 by Assemblymember Tom Lackey (R-Palmdale) – Crimes:
burglary tools.

AB 492 by Assemblymember Avelino Valencia (D-Anaheim) – Alcohol
and drug programs: licensing.

AB 498 by Assemblymember Michelle Rodriguez (D-Ontario) – Self-
service storage facilities: lien notices: email.

AB 499 by Assemblymember Liz Ortega (D-San Leandro) – Robert F.
Kennedy Farm Workers Medical Plan.

AB 516 by Assemblymember Ash Kalra (D-San Jose) – Registered
veterinary technicians and veterinary assistants: scope of practice.

AB 531 by Assemblymember Chris Rogers (D-Santa Rosa) –
Geothermal powerplants and projects: certification and
environmental review.

AB 535 by Assemblymember Pilar Schiavo (D-Santa Clarita) –



Threatening a witness: assisting a prosecution.

AB 543 by Assemblymember Mark González (D-Los Angeles) – Medi-
Cal: field medicine.

AB 606 by Assemblymember Sharon Quirk-Silva (D-Fullerton) –
Certificated employees: professional services credential: out-of-state
applicants.

AB 607 by Assemblymember Celeste Rodriguez (D-San Fernando) –
CalWORKs: Home Visiting Program.

AB 627 by Assemblymember Catherine Stefani (D-San Francisco) –
California Health Facilities Financing Authority Act.

AB 648 by Assemblymember Rick Chavez Zbur (D-Los Angeles) –
Community colleges: housing: local zoning regulations: exemption.

AB 653 by Assemblymember Tom Lackey (R-Palmdale) – Child abuse:
mandated reporters: talent agents, managers, and coaches.

AB 759 by Assemblymember Avelino Valencia (D-Anaheim) –
Architects: architects-in-training.

AB 779 by Assemblymember Tom Lackey (R-Palmdale) – Child welfare
services: domestic violence consultant pilot program.

AB 841 by Assemblymember Darshana Patel (D-San Diego) – State
Fire Marshal: personal protective equipment: battery fires.

AB 847 by Assemblymember Dr. LaShae Sharp-Collins (D-San Diego) –
Peace officers: confidentiality of records.

AB 894 by Assemblymember Juan Carrillo (D–Palmdale) – General
acute care hospitals: patient directories.

AB 900 by Assemblymember Diane Papan (D-San Mateo) –
Environmental protection: 30x30 goals: land conservation:
stewardship.

AB 969 by Assemblymember Celeste Rodriguez (D-San Fernando) –
CalWORKs: family violence option and gender-based violence
information.

AB 1005 by Assemblymember Laurie Davies (R-Laguna Niguel) –



Drowning prevention: public schools: informational materials.

AB 1067 by Assemblymember Sharon Quirk-Silva (D-Fullerton) –
Public employees’ retirement: felony convictions.

AB 1108 by Assemblymember Gregg Hart (D-Santa Barbara) – County
officers: coroners: in-custody deaths.

AB 1119 by Assemblymember Darshana Patel (D-San Diego) –
Teacher credentialing: dual credentialing.

AB 1139 by Assemblymember Chris Rogers (D-Santa Rosa) –
California Environmental Quality Act: exemption: public access:
nonmotorized recreation.

AB 1181 by Assemblymember Matt Haney (D-San Francisco) –
Firefighters: personal protective equipment.

AB 1239 by Assemblymember Diane Dixon (R-Newport Beach) –
Human trafficking: data.

AB 1258 by Assemblymember Ash Kalra (D-San Jose) – Deferred entry
of judgment pilot program.

AB 1280 by Assemblymember Robert Garcia (D-Rancho Cucamonga)
– Energy.

AB 1410 by Assemblymember Robert Garcia (D-Rancho Cucamonga)
– Utilities: service outages and updates: alerts.

AB 1417 by Assemblymember Catherine Stefani (D-San Francisco) –
Energy: Voluntary Offshore Wind and Coastal Resources Protection
Program: community capacity funding activities and grants.

AB 1418 by Assemblymember Pilar Schiavo (D-Santa Clarita) –
Department of Health Care Access and Information.

AB 1479 by Assemblymember David Tangipa (R-Fresno) – County
road commissioner: Counties of Madera and Tehama.

AB 1495 by Assemblymember Avelino Valencia (D-Anaheim) – Home
health aides: training and certification.

AB 1520 by the Committee on Water, Parks, and Wildlife – Public
resources: conservation.



SB 83 by Senator Tom Umberg (D-Santa Ana) – State Department of
Health Care Services: substance abuse treatment: disclosures.

SB 85 by Senator Tom Umberg (D-Santa Ana) – Civil actions: service of
summons.

SB 230 by Senator John Laird (D-Santa Cruz) – Workers’
compensation: firefighters.

SB 253 by Senator Tom Umberg (D-Santa Ana) – State Bar of
California.

SB 276 by Senator Scott Wiener (D-San Francisco) – City and County
of San Francisco: merchandising sales.

SB 283 by Senator John Laird (D-Santa Cruz) – Energy storage
systems.

SB 306 by Senator Josh Becker (D-Menlo Park) – Health care
coverage: prior authorizations.

SB 351 by Senator Christopher Cabaldon (D-Yolo) – Health facilities.

SB 376 by Senator Suzette Martinez Valladares (R-Lancaster) –
Incomplete gift nongrantor trusts: Personal Income Tax Law.

SB 378 by Senator Scott Wiener (D-San Francisco) – Online
marketplaces: illicit cannabis: reporting and liability.

SB 395 by Senator Scott Wiener (D-San Francisco) – Alcoholic
beverages: additional licenses: hospitality zone.

SB 402 by Senator Suzette Martinez Valladares (R-Lancaster) – Health
care coverage: autism.

SB 412 by Senator Monique Limón (D-Santa Barbara) – Home care
aides.

SB 480 by Senator Bob Archuleta (D-Pico Rivera) – Autonomous
vehicles.

SB 484 by Senator John Laird (D-Santa Cruz) – Coastal resources:
coastal development permits: infill area categorical exclusion.

SB 506 by the Committee on Transportation – Transportation:



omnibus bill.

SB 530 by Senator Laura Richardson (D-South Bay) – Medi-Cal: time
and distance standards.

SB 567 by Senator Monique Limón (D-Santa Barbara) – Gravity-Based
Energy Storage Well Pilot Program.

SB 593 by Senator Melissa Hurtado (D-Bakersfield) – Electrical
corporations: significant voltage-related incidents: studies.

SB 640 by Senator Christopher Cabaldon (D-Yolo) – Public
postsecondary education: admission, transfer, and enrollment.

SB 697 by Senator John Laird (D-Santa Cruz) – Determination of water
rights: stream system.

SB 702 by Senator Monique Limón (D-Santa Barbara) – Legislative
and gubernatorial appointments: report.

SB 727 by Senator Mike McGuire (D-Santa Rosa) – The Great
Redwood Trail Agency.

SB 744 by Senator Christopher Cabaldon (D-Yolo) – Accrediting
agencies.

SB 763 by Senator Melissa Hurtado (D-Bakersfield) – Conspiracy
against trade: punishment.

SB 800 by Senator Elosie Gómez Reyes (D-Colton) – State bridges and
overpasses: suicide prevention.

The Governor also announced that he has vetoed the following bills:

AB 512 by Assemblymember John Harabedian (D-Pasadena) – Health
care coverage: prior authorization. A veto message can be found
here.

AB 527 by Assemblymember Diane Papan (D-San Mateo) – California
Environmental Quality Act: geothermal exploratory projects:
geothermal field development projects: enhanced geothermal
system wells. A veto message can be found here.

AB 574 by Assemblymember Mark González (D-Los Angeles) – Prior
authorization: physical therapy. A veto message can be found here.
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AB 615 by Assemblymember Laurie Davies (R-Laguna Niguel) – Power
facilities: emergency response and action plans. A veto message can
be found here.

AB 682 by Assemblymember Liz Ortega (D-San Leandro) – Health
care coverage reporting. A veto message can be found here.

AB 738 by Assemblymember David Tangipa (R-Fresno) – Energy:
building standards: photovoltaic requirements. A veto message can
be found here.

AB 1074 by Assemblymember Darshana Patel (D-San Diego) –
CalWORKs. A veto message can be found here.

AB 1210 by Assemblymember Tom Lackey (R-Palmdale) – Postrelease
community supervision. A veto message can be found here.

AB 1224 by Assemblymember Avelino Valencia (D-Anaheim) –
Teacher credentialing: substitute teachers: days of service. A veto
message can be found here.

AB 1324 by Assemblymember Dr. LaShae Sharp-Collins (D-San Diego)
– CalWORKs. A veto message can be found here.

AB 1378 by Assemblymember Chris Rogers (D-Santa Rosa) – Child
welfare services: prevention services: Indian tribes. A veto message
can be found here.

AB 1430 by Assemblymember Steve Bennett (D-Ventura) – County
recorders: fees. A veto message can be found here.

SB 5 by Senator Christopher Cabaldon (D-Yolo) – Enhanced
infrastructure financing districts and community revitalization and
investment areas: allocation of taxes: agricultural land exclusion. A
veto message can be found here.

SB 317 by Senator Melissa Hurtado (D-Bakersfield) – Wastewater
surveillance. A veto message can be found here.

SB 717 by Senator Laura Richardson (D-South Bay) – Ken Maddy
California Cancer Registry. A veto message can be found here.

For full text of the bills, visit: http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov.
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of FGG, CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: SDSO Update 10-6-25
Date: Wednesday, October 8, 2025 1:51:02 PM

Update - Death Investigation

Name Release Update - In-Custody Death - San Diego Central Jail

Post Date: 10/06/2025 3:33 PM

The San Diego County Sheriff's Office is releasing details following the death of a 55-year-old
man, Eugene Rodman Smith, who was in custody at the San Diego Central Jail and died at a
local hospital. San Diego County Sheriff's Homicide investigators were notified of Mr. Smith's
passing at the San Diego Central Jail.

On Wednesday, October 1, 2025, at around 11:55 p.m., Sheriff's Deputies at the San Diego
Central Jail were performing their routine duties when they discovered Mr. Smith
unresponsive inside a holding cell. He was alone inside the cell. Upon observing the situation,
the deputies immediately activated 9-1-1, requested additional assistance from the facility's
medical staff, and began life saving measures. 

Paramedics and the San Diego Fire Department assumed lifesaving measures upon their
arrival and Mr. Smith was transported to a local hospital. Despite their efforts, Mr. Smith was
pronounced deceased at the hospital on October 2, 2025, at about 1:15 a.m.

Mr. Smith, a resident of the city of San Diego, had been in Sheriff's custody since September
29, 2025, for public intoxication.

The San Diego Sheriff's Office extends our sympathies to the Smith family and all those
affected by his passing. A Sheriff's Family Liaison Officer will continue to support the family as
they navigate through this difficult time.

The Citizens' Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB) was notified regarding the incident. As is
the protocol for all in-custody deaths, the Sheriff's Homicide Unit responded and is conducting
a thorough investigation to ensure all aspects of this incident are examined. The cause and
manner of death will be determined by the Medical Examiner's Office.

To view the Press Release dated October 2, 2025 click Here.

Media Contact: Juan Marquez, Lieutenant

Juan.Marquez@sdsheriff.org
Homicide Unit / 858-285-6330
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Click here for more information
 
 
Best regards - Brett
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of FGG, CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: CLERB Job Posting - Public Relations Specialist
Date: Thursday, October 9, 2025 4:12:07 PM

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/sdcounty/jobs/5082747/public-outreach-specialist-
25233709
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of FGG, CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 10-12-25
Date: Sunday, October 12, 2025 4:21:36 PM

Newsom signs bill giving civilian oversight boards access to police personnel files

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/10/newsom-signs-bill-giving-civilian-
oversight-boards-access-to-police-personnel-files/

 
Best regards - Brett
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Board of Supervisors Update
Date: Wednesday, October 15, 2025 2:06:08 PM
Attachments: ESTABLISHING THE OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL v7.pdf

Board Members –
 
Please see the attached Board Letter from District 4.  It is on the agenda for the October
21 BOS meeting.  It is currently scheduled as the third item (#19) after consent calendar.
 
Best regards - Brett
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DATE: October 21, 2025  XX 
        
TO: Board of Supervisors 


 
SUBJECT 
..Title 


ESTABLISHING THE OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL (DISTRICTS: ALL) 
 
..Body 


OVERVIEW 
The San Diego County Sheriff’s Office (SDSO) is vested with providing public safety services to 
the community, including those incarcerated, and SDSO deputies regularly make decisions that 
affect the community’s safety. The way in which SDSO deputies interact with community 
members is modeled and reinforced through SDSO training, policies, and professional code of 
conduct. 
 
The longstanding attention on the numerous jail deaths and related lawsuits, sexual harassment 
allegations within the SDSO, and the Citizens Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB) 
investigations have highlighted how training, culture, and adherence to department policies and 
procedures are critical in shaping how SDSO deputies react to situations in public and within the 
jails. It is now more important than ever to ensure that the Board of Supervisors (Board) and the 
Sheriff maintain a long-term commitment to rebuild trust in the justice system and sustain positive 
relationships between the communities and law enforcement. 
 
Thus, there is a need to utilize different oversight tools to ensure ongoing, continuous oversight of 
the SDSO. The Sheriff must be accountable to reform and demonstrate to the public that SDSO 
deputies are committed to the Sheriff’s “Organizational Vision” and “Core Values.” The creation 
of an Office of Inspector General (OIG) would be another tool to ensure that public safety is 
achieved in a transparent, fair, and equitable manner. This requires oversight independent from the 
Sheriff and a direct reporting relationship to the Board to ensure fiscal, moral, and ethical 
accountability. 
 
Accordingly, this action proposes the establishment of an OIG to monitor SDSO operations, the 
conditions of confinement in the County’s custodial facilities, the provision of services to 
incarcerated individuals, the conduct of contractors and employees who provide such services, and 
the Sheriff’s responses to complaints related to any of the above. The OIG should also be 
empowered to review various aspects of the SDSO, including use-of-force patterns, internal 
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investigations of force incidents and allegations of misconduct, and the Sheriff’s disciplinary 
decisions, and to conduct its own audit and inspections. The OIG should have the authority to 
undertake an inquiry and audit, or conduct an investigation, at the request of the Board, CLERB, 
the Sheriff, or on its own initiative, and make recommendations regarding disciplinary actions and 
SDSO policy. Finally, the Inspector General should serve as special counsel to the Board and 
CLERB. 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
VICE CHAIR MONICA MONTGOMERY STEPPE 


1. Direct the Chief Administrative Officer and County Counsel to evaluate the feasibility of 
creating an Office of Inspector General (OIG) pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code § 25303.7(c), 
with the authority and mandate to audit, review, investigate, and provide recommendations 
regarding San Diego County Sheriff’s Office (SDSO) policies, procedures, and operations 
to assist in safeguarding the integrity of the SDSO, and report back to the Board within 120 
days in a confidential, attorney-client privileged memorandum. The feasibility plan must 
contain an implementation plan for the creation of a fully developed OIG office, including 
staffing, costs, and funding source(s). The OIG must be able to oversee internal affairs 
investigations, and discipline and review medical care delivery. 


2. Direct the CAO to work with County Counsel to include in the report back a draft ordinance 
creating an OIG pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code § 25303.7(c) with the following functions to 
the extent feasible: 


a. Monitoring SDSO operations and the conditions of confinement in the County’s 
custody facilities, including in-progress investigations, the provision of services to 
incarcerated individuals, and the conduct of contractors and employees who 
provide such services, including medical, pharmaceutical, and mental health 
services, and the Sheriff’s responses to complaints related to SDSO operations and 
the conditions of confinement, including the supervision and provision of services 
to incarcerated individuals, and the conduct of contractors and employees who 
provide such services; 


i. The OIG may perform monitoring at the request of the Board of Supervisors 
(Board), the Citizens Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB), or the 
Sheriff, or on its own initiative; 


ii. As part of this function, the OIG may attend meetings, reviews, and 
proceedings regarding SDSO incidents, operations, investigations, 
disciplinary matters, and corrective actions, unless the OIG’s presence 
would obstruct an ongoing criminal investigation; and 


iii. The OIG is specifically authorized to monitor compliance with civil rights 
laws and to review health information, as permitted by law, to determine 
compliance with such laws. 


b. Reviewing SDSO use-of-force patterns, trends, and statistics, the Sheriff’s 
investigations of force incidents and allegations of misconduct, the Sheriff’s 
disciplinary decisions, and the quality of the Sheriff’s internal audits and 
inspections. 


c. Undertaking an inquiry, inspection, and/or audit of matters involving the SDSO, 
employees or contractors of the SDSO, or any other entity or service provider 
regarding matters under the SDSO’s authority in the following circumstances: 
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i. When requested by, or with authorization of, the Sheriff, as appropriate; 
ii. When the Inspector General makes a factually based determination that 


such investigation is necessary and appropriate; provided, however, that the 
Inspector General shall, when appropriate, first meet and confer with the 
Sheriff or SDSO staff or their respective departments and afford the 
department the reasonable opportunity to respond (not to exceed 30 
calendar days) before the OIG conducts an investigation pursuant to this 
subpart; or 


iii. When the Board or CLERB makes a formal request to the Inspector 
General. 


d. Recommending disciplinary action to the Sheriff where, following an investigation 
pursuant to the above, the OIG determines that an employee’s actions or omissions 
violated law or SDSO policy; providing notice of a copy of the recommendation, 
the reasons for the recommendation, and supporting records, to the extent permitted 
by State or federal law, to the employee, the Board, and CLERB; and making 
available to the public, the Board, and CLERB any records and information 
regarding OIG’s disciplinary recommendations to the extent permitted by State or 
federal law. 


e. Developing and recommending policies and a comprehensive internal review 
process to the Sheriff for all use of force and critical incidents. 


f. Referring evidence of criminal misconduct to the appropriate department or 
government agency, including but not limited to the District Attorney and the State 
Attorney General. Notwithstanding such a referral, the OIG may continue to 
investigate the criminal misconduct unless the OIG’s investigation will interfere 
with a criminal investigation conducted by a department, government agency, or 
any law enforcement agency. 


g. Regularly communicating with the public, the Board, CLERB, and the Sheriff 
regarding OIG findings. This includes the following: 


i. Preparing and submitting a quarterly report to the Sheriff, the Board, and 
CLERB regarding OIG investigations that includes the number and type of 
complaints filed; trend analysis; the outcome of the complaints; any 
determination that the acts or omissions of an employee or contractor, in 
connection with the subject matter of a complaint, or a death in custody, 
violated law or SDSO policy; the OIG’s recommendations, if any, for 
discipline; the outcome of any discipline recommendations; and the OIG’s 
policy recommendations. 


ii. Such reports to the Board should be public reports, except to the extent they 
relate to confidential personnel or otherwise privileged matters or contain 
confidential juvenile, medical or mental health records, or protected health 
information.  


h. The OIG shall be an active member of the State Bar of California. Serving as an 
agent of the Board and CLERB. The Inspector General should also serve as special 
counsel to the Board and CLERB upon request, and have an attorney-client 
relationship with CLERB consistent with the attorney-client relationship the 
Inspector General has with the Board. 
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i. Issuing subpoenas for records, documents, information, or testimony when directed 
to do so upon action by the Board or CLERB, and administering oaths to effectuate 
any subpoenas. 


EQUITY IMPACT STATEMENT 
Encouraging effective independent government oversight of law enforcement demonstrates a 
commitment to promoting equity, justice, and inclusivity. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT STATEMENT 
Encouraging effective independent government oversight of law enforcement will further the 
County of San Diego’s commitment to promoting justice for all San Diegans. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Funds for the actions requested to evaluate the feasibility and draft an ordinance for an Office of 
Inspector General are included in the Fiscal Year 2025–26 Operational Plan based on existing staff 
time in the Chief Administrative Office and the Office of County Counsel funded by existing 
General Purpose Revenue. There will be no change in net General Fund cost and no additional 
staff years. If established there will be fiscal impacts associated with future related 
recommendations which staff would return to the Board for consideration and approval. 
 
BUSINESS IMPACT STATEMENT 
N/A 
 
..Details 


ADVISORY BOARD STATEMENT 
N/A 
 
BACKGROUND 
The San Diego County Sheriff’s Office (SDSO) interacts with the public daily, and SDSO deputies 
regularly make decisions that affect the safety and security of our communities. The way in which 
SDSO deputies interact with community members are modeled and reinforced through the SDSO 
training, policies, and professional code of conduct. 
 
The longstanding attention on the numerous jail deaths and related lawsuits, sexual harassment 
allegations within the SDSO, and the Citizen’s Law Enforcement Review Board (CLERB) 
investigations have highlighted how training, culture, and adherence to department policies and 
procedures are critical in shaping how Sheriff’s deputies react to situations in public and within 
the jails. It is now more important than ever to ensure that the Board of Supervisors (Board) and 
the Sheriff maintain a long-term commitment to rebuild trust in the justice system and sustain 
positive relationships between the communities and law enforcement. 
 
In 1990, voters in San Diego County enacted a ballot measure to amend the County Charter 
requiring the Board to establish CLERB to independently investigate complaints against officers 
employed by the SDSO and Probation Department. CLERB’s purpose is “to receive and 
investigate specified citizen complaints and investigate deaths arising out of or in connection with 
activities of peace officers and custodial officers employed by the County in the Sheriff’s 
Department or the Probation Department.”i In addition, CLERB is responsible for making 
“appropriate recommendations relating to matters within its jurisdiction,” “report[ing] its 
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activities,” and “provid[ing] data in respect to the disposition of citizen complaints received by the 
Citizens Law Enforcement Review Board.”ii CLERB lacks authority to set policy or impose 
discipline against officers or County employees in the SDSO. 
 
CLERB has made valuable contributions to maintaining the integrity of the SDSO by conducting 
investigations into citizen complaints and in-custody deaths and making recommendations for 
reform. However, there is a need to utilize different oversight tools to ensure ongoing and 
continuous oversight of the SDSO. The Sheriff must be accountable to reform and demonstrate to 
the public that SDSO deputies are committed to the SDSO’s “Organizational Vision” and “Core 
Values.”iii The creation of an Office of Inspector General (OIG) would be another tool to ensure 
that public safety is achieved in a transparent, fair, and equitable manner. The OIG would provide 
oversight independent from the Sheriff and a direct reporting relationship to the Board to ensure 
fiscal, moral, and ethical accountability. 
 
Accordingly, this action proposes that the Chief Administrative Officer and County Counsel 
evaluate the feasibility of establishing an OIG pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code § 25303.7(c), under 
which the Inspector General would be appointed by the Board to assist the Board with its duties 
that relate to the Sheriff. The OIG should have functions that include the following: 
 


• Monitoring SDSO operations, the conditions of confinement in the County’s custody 
facilities, including  monitoring in-progress investigations, the provision of services to 
incarcerated individuals, and the conduct of contractors and employees who provide such 
services, including medical, pharmaceutical, and mental health services, and the Sheriff’s 
responses to complaints related to SDSO operations, the conditions of confinement, 
including the supervision and provision of services to incarcerated individuals, and the 
conduct of contractors and employees who provide such services; 


o The OIG may perform monitoring at the request of the Board, CLERB, or the 
Sheriff, or on its own initiative; 


o As part of this function, the OIG may attend meetings, reviews, and proceedings 
regarding SDSO incidents, operations, investigations, disciplinary matters, and 
corrective actions, unless the OIG’s presence would obstruct an ongoing criminal 
investigation; and 


o The OIG is specifically authorized to monitor compliance with civil rights laws and 
to review health information, as permitted by law, to determine compliance with 
such laws. 


• Reviewing SDSO use-of-force patterns, trends, and statistics, the Sheriff’s investigations 
of force incidents and allegations of misconduct, the Sheriff’s disciplinary decisions, and 
the quality of the Sheriff’s internal audits and inspections. 


• Undertaking an inquiry, inspection, and/or audit at the request of the Board, CLERB, 
the Sheriff, or on its own initiative. The OIG should have the authority to investigate 
matters involving the SDSO, employees or contractors of the SDSO, or any other entity or 
service provider regarding matters under the Sheriff’s authority in the following 
circumstances: 


o When requested by, or with authorization of, the Sheriff, as appropriate; 
o When the Inspector General makes a factually based determination that such 


investigation is necessary and appropriate; provided, however, that the Inspector 
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General shall, when appropriate, first meet and confer with the Sheriff or SDSO 
staff or their respective departments and afford the department the reasonable 
opportunity to respond (not to exceed 30 calendar days) before the OIG conducts 
an investigation pursuant to this subpart; or 


o When the Board or CLERB makes a formal request to the Inspector General. 
 
The feasibility report should consider whether the OIG may also have the authority to recommend 
disciplinary action to the Sheriff where, following an investigation as described above, the OIG 
determines that an employee’s actions or omissions violated law or SDSO policy. The OIG  would 
provide notice of a copy of the recommendation, the reasons for the recommendation, and 
supporting records, to the extent permitted by State or federal law, to the employee, the Board, and 
CLERB, and make available to the public, the Board, and CLERB any records and information 
regarding OIG’s disciplinary recommendations to the extent permitted by State or federal law. 
Similarly, the OIG should be empowered to develop and recommend policies and a comprehensive 
internal review process to the Sheriff for all use of force and critical incidents. Finally, the OIG 
should have the ability to refer evidence of criminal misconduct to the appropriate department or 
government agency, including but not limited to the District Attorney and the State Attorney 
General. Notwithstanding such a referral, the OIG may continue to investigate the criminal 
misconduct unless the OIG’s investigation will interfere with a criminal investigation conducted 
by a department, government agency, or any law enforcement agency. 
 
Further, the OIG should regularly communicate with the public, the Board, CLERB, and the 
Sheriff regarding OIG findings. This includes by preparing and submitting a quarterly report to 
the Sheriff, the Board, and CLERB regarding OIG investigations that includes the number and 
type of complaints filed; trend analysis; the outcome of the complaints; any determination that the 
acts or omissions of an employee or contractor, in connection with the subject matter of a 
complaint, or a death in custody, violated law or SDSO policy; the OIG’s recommendations, if 
any, for discipline; the outcome of any discipline recommendations; and the OIG’s policy 
recommendations. Such reports to the Board should be public reports, except to the extent they 
relate to confidential personnel or otherwise privileged matters or contain confidential juvenile, 
medical or mental health records, or protected health information. 
 
The Inspector General should serve as an agent of the Board and CLERB. Thus, the feasibility 
study should also consider whether and how the Inspector General could also serve as special 
counsel to the Board and CLERB and have an attorney-client relationship with CLERB consistent 
with the attorney-client relationship the Inspector General would have with the Board. 
 
Finally, the OIG should have the authority to issue and the power to enforce subpoenas for records, 
documents, information, or testimony when directed to do so upon action by the Board or CLERB, 
and to administer oaths to effectuate any subpoenas. 
LINKAGE TO THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO STRATEGIC PLAN 
Today’s proposed action aligns with the Empower and Justice Strategic Initiatives in the County 
of San Diego’s 2025–2030 Strategic Plan by ensuring accountability and transparency in the 
justice system. 


 
Respectfully submitted, 
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MONICA MONTGOMERY STEPPE 
Supervisor, Fourth District 


 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
N/A 


 
i San Diego Cnty. Admin. Code § 340. 
ii Id. 
iii See Mission, Vision and Values, SAN DIEGO COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE, https://www.sdsheriff.gov/bureaus/about-
us/mission-values (last visited 9/18/2025). 







From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 10-18-25
Date: Saturday, October 18, 2025 3:55:26 PM

Montgomery Steppe proposes new oversight body for Sheriff’s Office

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/18/montgomery-steppe-proposes-
new-oversight-body-for-sheriffs-office/

 
Best regards - Brett
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 1020-25
Date: Monday, October 20, 2025 9:28:21 AM

SDSO to use new robot for de-escalation in high-risk situations
 
Best regards - Brett
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: SDSO Policy Recommendation Responses 10-20-25
Date: Monday, October 20, 2025 11:45:00 AM
Attachments: 23-079 PR DEP Notification Kuykendall.pdf

External Response to CLERB case 23-079.msg
22-056 Signed respond to CLERB Holding Cell search.pdf
22-056 Att DTU Tactical Tip - Clearing Holding Cells of Contraband.pdf

Board Members –
 
Please see the attached two Policy Recommendation responses.  They will be attached
to next month’s agenda.
 
Best regards - Brett
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May 6, 2024 
 
Sheriff Kelly A. Martinez, County of San Diego 
Attn: Lieutenant David Perkins, Division of Inspectional Services  
9621 Ridgehaven Court 
San Diego, CA  92123 
 
POLICY RECOMMENDATION CASE NO. 23-079/KUYKENDALL 
 
Dear Sheriff Martinez: 
 
In CLERB case #23-079/Kuykendall, the complainant alleged he was transferred without a wheelchair on 04-25-
23. According to Division of Inspectional Services, Sergeant Bracy, there was limited video footage available on 
04-25-23 due to the length of time since the incident. Sergeant Bracy provided video footage which may be 
Kuykendall walking down the out-courts hallway. SDSD DSB P&P B.37 titled, “Record Retention and 
Destruction”, states “records shall be retained for the length of time required to satisfy legal, liability, and audit 
requirements and shall be disposed of in compliance with legal procedures.” CA Code 34090.6 establishes 
guidelines for the destruction of routine video monitoring. Per the code, routine video monitoring includes jail 
observation and monitoring systems and allows the destruction of the recordings after one year. In an effort to 
legally comply with state regulations, it is recommended SDSD develop policy and procedure to retain routine 
jail video for a period of at least one year. CLERB strongly recommends for the retention beyond one year for 
CLERB to investigate complaints that may come in towards the end of CLERB filing time requirements.  
 
Pursuant to Section 340.9(g) of the San Diego County Administrative Code, the Citizens’ Law Enforcement 
Review Board (CLERB) shall have the authority to review and make recommendations on policies and 
procedures of the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department and San Diego County Probation Department. As 
such, CLERB makes the following recommendation: 


 
1. It is recommended the San Diego Sheriff’s Department (SDSD) develop policy and procedure to retain routine 


jail video for at least one year. CLERB strongly recommends for the retention beyond one year for CLERB to 
investigate complaints that may come in towards the end of CLERB’s filing time periods. 


 
On April 23, 2024 the CLERB reviewed and approved the above listed policy recommendation. CLERB supports 
the Sheriff’s Department’s careful and prompt review of our proposed policy recommendation, and we look 
forward to your response. 
 
Sincerely, 
 


 
 
Eileen Delaney, Chairperson 
 
ED:am 
cc: DIS Liaison 
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[External] Response to CLERB case 23-079

		From

		Jarjura, Joseph_SDSO

		To

		Kalina, Brett

		Cc

		CLERB, Notifications; Setzler, Lynn M; Murillo, Ernesto_SDSO

		Recipients

		Brett.Kalina@sdcounty.ca.gov; CLERB.Notifications@sdsheriff.gov; Lynn.Setzler@sdcounty.ca.gov; Ernesto.Murillo@sdsheriff.org



Hello Brett,



 



This is regarding CLERB 23-079. After reading Policy Section B.37 Record Retention and Destruction,  I was not able to find a reference to video retention schedule (see attachment). However, Policy Section F.1 Records Maintained, does refer to facility incident videos retention schedule of 2 years (see attachment).  I looked into some archived DSB P&P and found that the 2 year retention mark was also found on a 2022 P&P version. Therefore, the 2 year retention period is not a new change or addition to Policy Section F.1 Records Maintained. I know CLERB case 23-079 recommended that the Sheriff's Office make their retention policy to be beyond one year. This is and has been the case for a while. Rather than me going through a formal process to address CLERB's recommendation, please receive this email as my response to CLERB's concern. I appreciate it.



 



Respectfully,



 



JJ



 



 



 







 



   



Joseph Jarjura



Lieutenant



Division Of Inspectional Services



Email: Joseph.Jarjura@sdsheriff.org



www.sdsheriff.net



SAN DIEGO COUNTY



SHERIFF’S DEPARTMENT
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
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This Tactical Tip was prepared by the Detention In-Service Training Unit. 


  Kelly A. Martinez  Human Resource Services Bureau, Detention In-Service Training Unit  
 Sheriff      Telephone: (619) 258-3111 


Clearing Holding Cells of Contraband before placing an Incarcerated Person 


In our ongoing efforts to ensure safety and security within our facilities, it is important to follow best practices 


regarding the clearance of holding cells of contraband. Maintaining a secure environment is paramount to our 


mission. Contraband can pose significant risks to the safety of both staff and incarcerated individuals. Below 


are recommendations for sworn staff to apply when feasible.   


1. Before placing an incarcerated person in an empty holding cell, sworn staff should conduct an inspection


of the area, checking for any unauthorized items, including weapons, drugs, garbage, or other forms of


contraband.


2. Deputies should verify the professional visits room is clear of contraband before and after the placement


of an incarcerated person.


3. Deputies should inspect and clear the court holding cells for trash, debris and contraband prior to


incarcerated person(s) placement.


4. Following any incident inside a cell (e.g., a fight, use of force, medical emergency), deputies should


verify the holding cell is clear of contraband, equipment, medical supplies, bodily fluids, and other


hazard or security threats before placing an occupant.


These best practices can be applied to any area an incarcerated person is being placed, including vehicles, 


holding cells, dry cells, other types of cells, housing areas, search rooms, visit rooms, etc.  By following these 


practices, deputies can create a safer and more humane environment for staff and incarcerated persons, 


potentially saving a life.  Additionally, making sure an area or cell is free of contraband prior to placing an 


incarcerated person in it, will aid in prosecution if illegal items are found and the search is properly 


documented.  


TACTICAL TIP August 6, 2025 







From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 10-22-25
Date: Wednesday, October 22, 2025 8:24:56 AM

Supervisors move forward with plan for new oversight of sheriff

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/21/supervisors-move-forward-with-
plan-for-new-oversight-of-sheriff/

 
Statement on Proposed Oversight Body for Sheriff's Office

Sheriff opposes proposal, citing redundancy and lack of collaboration.

Post Date: 10/21/2025 7:30 PM

 

San Diego County Sheriff Kelly Martinez has issued a strong response to San Diego County
Board of Supervisor Monica Montgomery Steppe’s proposal to pursue a feasibility study for
establishing an Office of Inspector General (OIG) with authority to investigate, audit, and
review Sheriff’s Office operations.

On Tuesday, October 21, the Board approved moving forward with the feasibility study. The
Sheriff was grateful for the opportunity to speak on the proposal, especially since the Sheriff’s
Office was not consulted prior to the docketing of the board letter. The Sheriff’s Office hopes
to be meaningfully involved in future efforts to ensure its complex, dynamic systems and
operations are fully understood and considered in policy decisions moving forward. 

"At the end of the day, we all want the same things," said Sheriff Martinez. "We want policing
and jail management in the county to be the best in the nation with community trust and
support at the forefront of our efforts.”

During the Board of Supervisors meeting, Sheriff Martinez emphasized that the Sheriff's Office
already operates under more than twenty local, state, and federal oversight bodies, making it
one of the most heavily regulated law enforcement agencies in California.

"The Sheriff’s Office is already one of the most scrutinized and audited public agencies in this
state,” said Sheriff Martinez. "We are accountable to the Board of State and Community
Corrections, the California Department of Justice, the Citizens’ Law Enforcement Review
Board, San Diego County Grand Jury, and many others. We must recognize that adding
another layer doesn’t equal more accountability — it equals more bureaucracy. Each new
oversight body duplicates reviews, drains resources, and diverts time away from what

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=E105D2CDB6E94FB68A795FFA35E9B308-585D7145-35
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improves safety, care, and operations. It drains resources from real reform and undermines
the progress our employees work tirelessly to achieve.”

Sheriff Martinez noted that the Sheriff's Office takes every recommendation and finding from
these oversight entities seriously, using their input to continuously shape and strengthen its
operations, training, and delivery of care.  Adding more oversight runs the risk of conflicting
recommendations, which is concerning and puts the Sheriff in the position of deciding which
laws and rules to follow. 

"We don’t dismiss oversight — we engage with it,” Sheriff Martinez added. "Every audit,
inspection, and review informs how we improve. That’s how real change happens. But this
proposal was advanced without any discussion, outreach, or engagement with my office —
the very department it seeks to regulate. That’s not good governance, that’s exclusion. True
transparency comes from working together to understand the challenges we face and the
progress we’re making, not from layering on more bureaucracy that looks like oversight but
delivers no real value.”

Sheriff Martinez reaffirmed the Sheriff's Office's ongoing commitment to transparency, safety,
and modernization. Recent improvements in jail infrastructure, medical care, and compliance
practices have been made in close partnership with the County's support and a culture shift of
driving enhanced service delivery to those in our custodial care.

"The men and women of the Sheriff's Office have been driving meaningful change,” Sheriff
Martinez added. "Our mission is to keep San Diego County safe while strengthening trust with
the communities we serve — and that requires support, not political posturing.”

The Sheriff urged the Board to reject the OIG feasibility proposal and instead focus on
collaborative solutions that build on the department’s progress in accountability and
rehabilitation.

 
 
‘Like the walls are closing in’: After parallel jail deaths, judge urged to limit sheriff’s use of solitary
confinement
 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/20/like-the-walls-are-closing-in-after-parallel-jail-
deaths-judge-urged-to-limit-sheriffs-use-of-solitary-confinement/

 
 
Best regards - Brett
 

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/20/like-the-walls-are-closing-in-after-parallel-jail-deaths-judge-urged-to-limit-sheriffs-use-of-solitary-confinement/
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/20/like-the-walls-are-closing-in-after-parallel-jail-deaths-judge-urged-to-limit-sheriffs-use-of-solitary-confinement/


From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: League of Women Voters San Diego Report
Date: Wednesday, October 22, 2025 8:58:53 AM
Attachments: LWVSD Concern over Conditions in our County Jails (1).pdf

Board Members-
 
Please see the attached LWVSD Report titled “Concern over conditions in our County
jails.”  It was provided by Jeanne Brown, Chair of the Criminal Justice Group: Criminal
Justice - LWV San Diego
 
** Please note that CLERB staff have not been able to independently verify any of the
data or feasibility of recommendations presented in the report.
 
Best regards - Brett
 

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=E105D2CDB6E94FB68A795FFA35E9B308-585D7145-35
mailto:CLERB@sdcounty.ca.gov
mailto:Brett.Kalina@sdcounty.ca.gov
https://www.lwvsandiego.org/content.aspx?page_id=22&club_id=681146&module_id=461094
https://www.lwvsandiego.org/content.aspx?page_id=22&club_id=681146&module_id=461094



1 


 
LWVSD Concern over 


Conditions in San Diego 
County Jails 


 
 


League of Women Voters of 
San Diego 


Criminal Justice Interest 
Group 


 
October 2025







2 


 
 
INTRODUCTION        
 
A compelling and fundamental value underlying public submission to our criminal justice system 
is that of “justice.”  A person accused of a crime can be apprehended, charged with a crime, 
detained until trial, then tried, convicted and sentenced.  All of us accept that we, or those we 
love, may be subjected to all or part of this process in order to regulate and maintain a lawful and 
thriving society.  But in this country, our endorsement and acceptance of a criminal justice 
system is based upon an expectation that it will treat us fairly at all stages, and that while accused 
or convicted persons may be drawn into it, the legitimacy of the system will always be founded 
upon fairness and decency. 


Unfortunately, that has not been the case for many inmates, most of whom had not even been 
convicted of crime, but were instead pre-trial detainees, in San Diego County jail facilities.  San 
Diego County jail facilities have seen some of the highest rates of preventable jail deaths in 
California.  Many of these deaths are associated with long-standing problems in the ways our 
jails are operated and maintained, how staff is trained or supervised, and with violation of 
constitutional and statutory requirements enacted to ensure the safe, fair and humane treatment 
that every one of us would expect if we were incarcerated. 


The League of Women Voters, acting in concert with positions taken by its nationwide, 
statewide, and local membership, is deeply concerned about the need for public involvement in 
advocating for change in policies and practices causing unnecessary suffering and death in local 
jails.  As San Diego County Sheriff Kelly Martinez has argued in resisting certain changes, she is 
answerable only to voters – not to the Board of Supervisors, not to critics, not to anyone who has 
not put her in office.  If this is true, then it is imperative that voters be given the information they 
need to make informed judgments about those who preside over what appears to be a troubled, 
perhaps even broken, system of incarceration. 


The League of Women Voters provides this report to summarize and share our concerns about 
conditions in San Diego County jails that cause preventable suffering and death and the loss of 
millions of taxpayer dollars. These conditions introduce into an already burdened criminal justice 
process a level of misery beyond mere detention or punishment. 


This report, using information available in reports and studies provided by government agencies, 
advocates, legal experts, and news media, examines the history and current state of in-custody 
deaths in San Diego County: 1) how San Diego County fares in comparison to other counties 
statewide; 2) some noted causes of problems associated with in-custody deaths; 3) how 
advocates, critics and public oversight agencies have assessed jail conditions and problems, 
along with recommendations made; and 4) how the San Diego County Sheriff’s Office has 
responded.  The report then provides the League’s summary of recommendations, not as 
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suggested mandates, but as respectful reminders of best practices that have arisen from the 
community of discussion among concerned citizens. 


Our hope is that residents of our county will use this report as a starting point for their 
involvement in what is hoped will become a widely public process of creating a more just 
condition of incarceration for those confined in local jail facilities. 


 
As is the “League Way”, we start with the position that applies to this report:  The parts that are 
the most applicable to this report are  


● Ensure that all correctional systems provide humane, dignified, non-discriminatory 
treatment of incarcerated people and personnel, including appropriate healthcare and 
access to community-based rehabilitation programs.   


● Eliminate the practice of solitary confinement.  
● Ensure that incarcerated people and corrections officers have clear, safe and accessible 


ways to report abuse. 
https://lwvc.org/position/criminal-justice/ 
 


Another position that is important to this report is that taken by the citizens of this country in 
order to ratify the new constitution in 1791. The Eighth Amendment as part of the Bill of Rights 
states: Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and 
unusual punishments inflicted. 
 
  
OVERVIEW AND HISTORY 
 
The sheriff is an elected official overseeing county jails and law enforcement in unincorporated 
county areas and providing contracted law enforcement in nine cities. There are seven 
jails/facilities. The jails are staffed by sworn deputies and civilians, including health and 
behavioral health staff. Some civilians are county employees and others are with contracted 
organizations. The San Diego Sheriff’s Office (sheriff) runs San Diego County’s adult detention 
facilities. The Sheriff is an elected position currently held by Kelly Martinez, the handpicked 
successor of and by Sheriff Bill Gore, who resigned after a 2021 California State Audit found the 
sheriff failed to prevent in-custody deaths during his tenure.  
See the Sheriff website for additional information: https://www.sdsheriff.gov/home 


In custody deaths in San Diego County jails  


According to the San Diego Union-Tribune on August 10, seven deaths have occurred in 2025. 
The most recent death was of Karim Talib, who died on July 28. 



https://lwvc.org/position/criminal-justice/

https://www.sdsheriff.gov/home
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https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/10/another-gruesome-death-in-jail-and-neglect-
that-preceded-it-described-in-sworn-testimony/ 


 


● Between 2021 and 2023, 13 incarcerated persons died from drug overdoses in San Diego 
jails. 


● Since 2019, at least 17 incarcerated persons have died from drug overdoses.  
● Seven of the 17 deaths since 2019 occurred after incarcerated persons obtained lethal 


drugs while in jail. The remaining deaths involved drugs ingested before arrest. 
● Drug overdoses have been a significant factor in a broader pattern of deaths in San Diego 


County jails. These jails have faced scrutiny for their high mortality rate compared to 
other California facilities. 


● At least 6 incarcerated persons have died in solitary confinement which the sheriff’s 
office calls “administrative separation. 


● In 2022, over 200 inmates overdosed in San Diego County jails, leading to several deaths 
and lawsuits. https://www.sehatlaw.com/news/over-200-inmates-overdosed-in-san-diego-
county/ 


Now that there is Narcan in the facilities, fewer people are dying from overdoses, which  
shows that there are still a lot of drugs getting into our jails. 


● San Diego County jails operated by the Sheriff’s Office have historically seen some of 
the highest mortality rates among large California counties — with some of the deaths, 
though not all, attributed to drug overdoses. According to a state audit, 185 people died in 
the sheriff’s  custody between 2006 and 2020. 


As seen in the following table, the preventable deaths in our jails happen at a number of the 
facilities, over a number of years to many who are not convicted  but who have only been 
booked without having had a trial yet.  That fentanyl has been the cause of some of these deaths 
is showing that drugs are getting into these facilities. The lessening of fentanyl deaths may partly 
be due to the use of Narcan rather than fewer drugs entering.  
 
 



https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/10/another-gruesome-death-in-jail-and-neglect-that-preceded-it-described-in-sworn-testimony/

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/08/10/another-gruesome-death-in-jail-and-neglect-that-preceded-it-described-in-sworn-testimony/

https://www.sehatlaw.com/news/over-200-inmates-overdosed-in-san-diego-county/

https://www.sehatlaw.com/news/over-200-inmates-overdosed-in-san-diego-county/
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YEAR DEATHS BOOKED 
AWAITING 


TRIAL OR NO 
CHARGES 


SENTENCED FENTANYL OVERDOSES SUICIDES 


2021 18 17 1 4 2 2 


2022 19 1 0 5   


2023 13 9 0 3  2 


2024 10 4 0 1   


2025 8 8 0 1   
 


In 2021, 50% of the deaths were in the Central Jail. In 2022,  47% of the deaths were in  Central  
jail. 30% of the deaths were in the Vista Detention Center. In 2024, 67% of the deaths were in 
the Central Jail. 


Lost Loved Ones  


Some of the adults who have died of preventable conditions in San Diego jails are listed here.  
 
• Elisa Serna, 24, died in 2019 from gross medical neglect. Her family’s case was settled for a 
record $15 million and required sheriff training and policy changes   
• Saxon Rodriguez, 22, died in 2021 from a drug overdose and failure to conduct timely safety 
checks 
• Matthew Settles, 54, died in 2022. Despite his history of mental illness, the sheriff failed to 
prevent him from dying by suicide  
• Lonnie Rupard, 46, died in 2022. His death by malnutrition and dehydration was ruled a 
homicide by the Medical Examiner 
• Gilbert Gil, 67, died in 2022 from untreated diabetes and failure to conduct timely safety 
checks 
• Alan Arguelles, 16, overdosed on fentanyl twice within days and died after Probation 
Department officers failed to perform timely safety checks in 2021. His case was settled for $1.1 
Million  
• Brandon Yates, 24, was murdered by his cellmate in 2024. His family’s case against the sheriff 
and County is currently being litigated 
 
Settlements 
Often, the only way for families, who have lost loved ones in San Diego jails, to see justice is to 
file a lawsuit against the sheriff and County. As of August 2025, individual legal settlements and 
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jury awards related to in-custody deaths and sheriff misconduct have cost San Diego taxpayers 
over $75 million (SDUT, 9-29-24 and 8-6-25).  
 
Jail Oversight in San Diego County   The current effort to make San Diego’s jails safer started 
with the San Diego Union-Tribune’s Dying Behind Bars investigation in 2019. This exposé 
named 140 people who had died in-custody over the previous 10 years; as of July 31, 2025, that 
number is 225. 
 
San Diego County voters established the San Diego County Citizen’s Law Enforcement Review 
Board (CLERB) in 1990. CLERB is charged with 1) investigating citizen complaints of 
misconduct by the sheriff, 2) independently investigating all jail deaths, and 3) making 
recommendations to the sheriff regarding reform. The sheriff is not required to adopt CLERB 
recommendations.  
 
Issues often discussed in CLERB meetings include:  
 
• Full Body Scans. The availability of Narcan in detention facilities has reduced drug overdoses 
in San Diego jails, but drug access is still an issue. Following years of CLERB repeatedly 
recommending that all people, including sheriff staff, entering detention facilities be scanned for 
narcotics contraband, the sheriff instituted random checks involving drug sniffing dogs and metal 
detectors in July 2024. This falls short of the full body scans recommended by CLERB, which 
the sheriff falsely claims are impractical given radiation and budgetary concerns.  
 
• Power to Investigate Doctors/Nurses. A 2021 report by San Diegans for Justice (SDJ) 
recommended nearly 70 policy and procedural changes designed to strengthen citizen oversight 
of the sheriff. While full implementation of these changes is ongoing, in December 2024, the 
Board of Supervisors voted unanimously to start the process of giving CLERB investigatory 
powers over medical services providers as recommended by SDJ. Now in September 2025, 
supervisors voted to give CLERB oversight of all medical services. This passed over the sheriff’s 
objection. Without this power, CLERB has often had to summarily dismiss cases involving 
medical or mental health staff misconduct. Complicating this issue is that the sheriff contracts 
with some medical service providers and those contracts are often clouded in secrecy and 
cronyism. NaphCare and Correctional Healthcare Partners (CHP) are believed to currently 
provide medical services in San Diego detention facilities. (SDUT, 5-10-24) CHP is run by Dr. 
Peter Freedland, who worked as a contract physician in San Diego’s jails prior to 2020. Freeland 
has settled one lawsuit over substandard care during his tenure and was a defendant in the 2019 
in-custody death of Michael Wilson. Recently (SDUT, 8-24-25) the sheriff again opposed 
CLERB oversight of medical staff, referencing a Correctional Health Oversight Unit in Los 
Angeles County, which doesn’t exist. She also mentioned an Office of Inspector General to 
monitor medical service providers and audit other activities. CLERB Chair MaryAnne Pintar 
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said any alternative could only be effective if it reported to the CLERB or another entity separate 
from the Sheriff’s Office.sb 519 
 
• Critical Incident Review Board Reports/SB 519.  The CIRB includes department leadership 
and the sheriff's Legal Advisor. It conducts reviews of in-custody deaths.  When an in-custody 
death occurs, both the sheriff and CLERB investigate separately. Sheriff findings are then 
reviewed internally by the CIRB, but those findings are not made public. Although the sheriff 
campaigned on releasing these secret CIRB findings to the public, she changed course after her 
election. In 2023, then State Senator Toni Atkins (D-SD) introduced a bill, SB 519, requiring 
sheriffs to release these internal in-custody death reports publicly. The law passed, but the sheriff 
has refused to fully comply, stating that the presence of legal counsel at CIRB reviews means 
attorney-client privilege applies. There are currently 4 court cases where the County Counsel of 
San Diego and the sheriff are opposing the release of CIRB reports in an effort to overturn SB 
519.  
 
• Mountain Whisper Light Study. After a 2022 Analytics Study identified an excessive number 
of in-custody deaths in San Diego jails, CLERB contracted with Mountain Whisper Light 
(MWL) in 2023 to identify when incarcerated persons are most vulnerable to in-custody death, 
based on characteristics like mental health, homelessness, race, crime charged, etc. For over a 
year, the sheriff refused to provide MWL with the data needed to conduct this study. Following 
multiple Public Record Act requests, ongoing negotiation and the threat of legal action, CLERB 
obtained most of the required sheriff data in the spring of 2025.  
 
Non-CLERB oversight issues that often arise include:  
• Inmate Welfare Fund Accounting Irregularities. In 2023, the San Diego Grand Jury found 
multiple financial irregularities with the Incarcerated Person’s Welfare Fund (IPWF). IPWF 
monies are derived from jail commissary profits and are intended to fund programs for the 
benefit, education and welfare of incarcerated persons. 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/11/10/san-diego-sheriff-is-raising-millions-from-
people-in-jail-but-details-are-scant-on-revenue-and-spending/ ) 
 
• ICE (Immigration and Customs Enforcement) Cooperation. San Diego is a sanctuary city. In 
addition to California laws restricting cooperation with federal immigration officials, the San 
Diego Board of Supervisors placed additional limits on the sheriff’s ability to assist Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement (ICE) in December 2024. Sheriff Martinez continues to transfer 
individuals from San Diego jails to ICE custody in violation of this county ordinance. 
https://www.cbs8.com/article/news/local/san-diego-sheriff-rejects-county-policy-ice-
cooperation/509-70bd4a18-d4d4-4822-aeb6-7b2a2a91324c 
 



https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/11/10/san-diego-sheriff-is-raising-millions-from-people-in-jail-but-details-are-scant-on-revenue-and-spending/

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/11/10/san-diego-sheriff-is-raising-millions-from-people-in-jail-but-details-are-scant-on-revenue-and-spending/

https://www.cbs8.com/article/news/local/san-diego-sheriff-rejects-county-policy-ice-cooperation/509-70bd4a18-d4d4-4822-aeb6-7b2a2a91324c

https://www.cbs8.com/article/news/local/san-diego-sheriff-rejects-county-policy-ice-cooperation/509-70bd4a18-d4d4-4822-aeb6-7b2a2a91324c
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• Class Action In-Custody Death and Abuse Lawsuit. In 2022, Rosen, Bien, Galvan & Grunfeld 
filed a class action lawsuit in federal court asserting that the sheriff, the Probation Department 
and San Diego County failed to provide incarcerated persons with adequate, accessible and safe 
living conditions. The lawsuit also claims incarcerated persons in San Diego’s jails lack adequate 
medical, mental health and dental care, and have been denied access to counsel and that people 
of color are overincarcerated. In December 2024, the Board of Supervisors settled claims related 
to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA); seven remaining claims in this lawsuit are in 
active litigation. https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/06/13/lawsuit-challenging-san-
diego-jail-conditions-stalls-pending-key-rulings-before-trial/ 
 
 
Other Oversight Bodies 
 
In addition to CLERB, several other oversight bodies have jurisdiction over sheriff jail 
operations, including  
• U.S. federal courts  
• California Attorney General  
•  California State Auditor. In 2022, the state auditor submitted a report concluding that the 
SDSD had failed to adequately prevent and respond to the deaths of individuals in its custody.  
• California Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC). In 2023, Senate Bill 519 
expanded the Board’s mission to include the In-Custody Death Review (ICDR) to: 


● review investigations of any death incident occurring within a local detention facility; 
● make recommendations to local sheriffs and departments of correction; 
● follow up with local detention facilities on their implementation of the recommendations; 


and 
● make information available to the public. 


• San Diego County Grand Jury. The Grand Jury recently submitted a report with 
recommendations that the sheriff develop metrics available to the public for monitoring and 
implement continuous quality improvement. 
• San Diego County Board of Supervisors (authority over the sheriff’s $1B budget, but no other 
direct oversight) 
 
The National Commission on Correctional Health Care has no oversight authority, but accredits 
jail health care operations. The sheriff is not accredited, but would like to get all seven facilities 
accredited. 
 
The sheriff, citing her position as an elected official subject only to the will of the voters, often 
defies oversight attempts by all these bodies. 



https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/06/13/lawsuit-challenging-san-diego-jail-conditions-stalls-pending-key-rulings-before-trial/

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/06/13/lawsuit-challenging-san-diego-jail-conditions-stalls-pending-key-rulings-before-trial/

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240SB519

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240SB519
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The San Diego County Sheriff’s Office In Context 


According to the 2013-2023 Police Scorecard on California (https://policescorecard.org/abou), 
the San Diego Sheriff’s Office had: 


● more funding per capita than 81% of other sheriff’s departments in California 
● more officers per population than 91% of other sheriff’s departments in California 
● a higher rate of jail deaths than 90% of departments 
● used more force per arrest than 91% of other sheriff’s departments in California 
● had higher arrest rate for low level offenses than 55% of other sheriff’s departments in 


California 
● solved fewer homicides than 55% of other sheriff’s departments in California 
●  used deadly force before trying to use non-deadly force in 67% of those shootings  
● a jail incarceration rate more than 87% of other departments    
● only 2% of the 876 civilian complaints ruled in favor of civilians from 2016 to 2022  
● 0% of 235 complaints of deputy discrimination result in favor of civilians from 2016-


2022  
●  2% of the 456 complaints of misconduct in jail, ruled in favor of civilians.  
●  21% of  14 alleged crimes committed by deputies ruled in favor of civilians from 2016 - 


2022  


Of the 55 counties with the most data, where high scores are for those who use less force, make 
fewer arrests for low level offenses, solve murder cases more often, hold officers more 
accountable and spend less on policing overall, San Diego County rated the lowest. 


PREVIOUS REPORTS AND OVERSIGHT OF THE SHERIFF 


San Diego County Grand Jury Report (May 29, 2018) 
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2017-
2018/SDCountyDetentionFacilitiesConditionandManagementReport.pdf 


 This report was precipitated by news reports in November 2017 questioning CLERB’s 
summary dismissal of 22 death case investigations.  During the investigation, the Grand Jury 
found CLERB had not been fully staffed for several years – there had been periodic staff 
shortages going back to November 2016 – and there was inadequate oversight of the 
Investigative Unit. 


State Audit Report (February 3, 2022) 



https://policescorecard.org/about

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2017-2018/SDCountyDetentionFacilitiesConditionandManagementReport.pdf

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2017-2018/SDCountyDetentionFacilitiesConditionandManagementReport.pdf
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https://information.auditor.ca.gov/reports/2021-109/index.html 


 An Audit of the San Diego County Sheriff’s Office was conducted at the direction of the 
joint Legislative Audit Committee to determine the reasons for in-custody deaths in San Diego 
County Jails and the steps taken by the Sheriff to address the deaths.  The Auditor concluded that 
the SDSO has both failed to adequately prevent the deaths and failed to adequately respond. 
Deficiencies were found in medical and mental health care and the performance of visual checks 
to ensure the health and safety of those in custody.  Moreover, the sheriff did not take 
meaningful action when the deaths occurred.  The reviews of the deaths have been insufficient 
and have not always led to corrective action.  The Audit Report also faulted CLERB, the Citizens 
Law Enforcement Review Board, for failing to investigate nearly one-third of the in-custody 
deaths in the last 15 years and failed to provide effective, independent oversight of in-custody 
deaths thereby failing to provide a key outside review of the sheriff. 


Among the recommendations were: 


●  The Legislature should require the SDSO to perform intake health evaluations, including 
mental health, follow-up medical and mental health care should be provided.  The SDSO  
should also implement a system of safety checks. 


● The Legislature should require the SDSO to hire mental health professionals to perform 
evaluations at intake and safety checks in sufficient detail to make sure the person is 
alive. 


● The Critical Incident Review Board should review natural deaths and make the facts 
discovered and recommendations public as to all in-custody deaths. 


Sheriff responses to California Audit Recommendations 


https://www.sdsheriff.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/4717/637794797354130000 


Intake: 


The sheriff agreed the mental health screening at intake should be done by mental health 
professionals and obtained the money to hire the required staff.  The sheriff also agreed the 
health staff should consider the medical and mental health history during screening and obtain 
access to community records.  The sheriff contributes information to the mental health records 
including the services provided when the individual was in custody. 


Medical and Mental Health Follow-Up 


The sheriff agreed that a patient reporting a health problem more than twice should be scheduled 
for a doctor’s appointment.  In response to a recommendation concerning an in-person 
assessment within 24 hours of a medical request, the sheriff agreed a “timely” medical response 
is necessary and plans to hire more nurses. 



https://information.auditor.ca.gov/reports/2021-109/index.html

https://www.sdsheriff.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/4717/637794797354130000
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Safety Check 


The sheriff agreed to  explore ways to do a proof of life safety check with minimal sleep 
disruption.  Supervisors would also formalize the electronic log reviews they already conduct 
every shift along with random safety checks. 


Medical Emergency 


Changes do not need to be made because the current policy provides that CPR will be started 
without waiting for medical approval. 


In Custody Death Follow-up 


The sheriff agreed to provide a written report of each 30-day medical review recommendation to 
prevent future deaths from the perspective of the Chief Medical Officer or Director of Mental 
Health. The sheriff agreed to a medical review regarding the appropriateness of care, adequacy 
of policies, procedures and practices and identifying issues requiring further study by the Chief 
Medical Officer or Director of Mental Health review. The sheriff has other processes in place to 
look for policy, training and accountability issues following critical incidents. 


Critical Incident Review Board 


As part of a pilot program, as of February 2022 the CIRB would review natural deaths in 
addition to the deaths the board now reviews.  The chief Medical Officer and medical staff 
would conduct a mortality/morbidity review to see if any changes in medical care are necessary.  
The requested CIRB information would not be released due the presence of a lawyer because the 
attorney/client privilege protects the information from release. 


Note: In October 2025, Governor Newsom signed into law AB 1108, the Forensic 
Accountability, Custodial Transparency, and Safety (FACTS) Act. This new law, authored by 
Assemblymember Gregg Hart, will require independent medical investigations into all deaths 
occurring in county jails, state prisons, and law enforcement custody -- including immigrant 
detention deaths occurring in the jurisdiction of a county coroner. 


CLERB integration 


The sheriff agreed to immediately notify CLERB of a death to allow a CLERB investigator to be 
present at the initial death scene. She suggested that the CLERB use its subpoena power if it 
wants more cooperation in interviews. 


 San Diegans for Justice Report (March 3, 2022) https://www.sandiegansforjustice.com/sdj-
clerb-report 


The purpose of this study was to enhance the structure and power of CLERB.   The actual 
analysis was performed by Professor Sharon Fairley, University of Chicago law Professor.  The 
major recommendations were: 



https://www.sandiegansforjustice.com/sdj-clerb-report

https://www.sandiegansforjustice.com/sdj-clerb-report





12 


1. Improve the independence and timeliness of CLERB’s investigative process 
2. Enforce CLERB’s subpoena power and the County’s duty to cooperate 
3. Increase CLERB’s resources to obtain more investigative manpower and add to the in-house 


subject matter expertise 
4. Enhance the transparency of CLERB board members selection process and clarify the 


criteria for appointment to enhance community representation 
5. Insure CLERB’s process includes a rigorous review of key reports and evidence, and 
6. Find ways to increase transparency about CLERB’s work   


Mountain Whisper Light Study (MWL) (2023-25) 


 https://www.mwlight.com 


After the finding of excessive in-custody deaths, CLERB contracted with MWL to identify those 
most vulnerable to in-custody deaths based on factors such as homelessness, mental health, race, 
and type of crime.  After years of trying to obtain the necessary data from the sheriff, she 
released most of the information requested and needed to complete the analysis in spring 2025. A 
final report has not yet been made public.  


SB 519 https://calmatters.digitaldemocracy.org/bills/ca_202320240sb519 


Beginning July 1, 2024, the effective date of SB 519, the records of an investigation by a local 
detention facility into the death of an inmate must be released to the public. It should also make 
recommendations to the sheriff and Department of Corrections. There needs to be follow-up with 
local detention facilities on the implementation of the recommendations and that information 
needs to be available to the public.  In San Diego, the Critical Incident Review Board (CIRB) 
reviews the findings made by the sheriff.  This bill was introduced after Sheriff Martinez, despite 
her campaign promises to do so, refused to release the CIRB findings because of attorney/client 
privilege since an attorney attended the meetings.  The requirement to release the records is 
currently in litigation. 


Grand Jury Report (2024/2025)  


https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2024-
2025/jails/Performance%20Indicators%20Displayed%20on%20a%20Publicly%20Accessible%2
0Dashboar.pdf 


In light of the continuing large number of in-custody deaths in San Diego County Jails (185 
deaths from 2006 – 2020, 50 deaths between 2021 and 2023, 9 deaths in 2024 and 7 deaths as of 
7/31/2025) and the high cost of litigation, financial settlements and judgments with the attendant 
costs of litigation, the Grand Jury recommended the use of data analysis to measure the 
Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) to improve operations and potentially prevent deaths. 
The report acknowledged that some changes had been made to jail operations such as a policy 
for a nurse to conduct a face-to-face interview within 24 hours of a request for medical services, 



https://www.mwlight.com/

https://calmatters.digitaldemocracy.org/bills/ca_202320240sb519
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a grievance policy that meets standards and a safety check policy that meets standards, but there 
is nothing in place to measure the success of the policies.  Therefore, the Grand Jury 
recommended CQI to measure current policies in all areas, but particularly regarding requests for 
medical/mental health services, medical-assisted treatment for opioid use disorder, grievances by 
those who are incarcerated and safety checks and reviews of the checks.  Also, the Grand Jury 
recommended the sheriff implement a CQI dashboard that is publicly available on the sheriff 
website. 


San Diego County Sheriff’s Office Response to Grand Jury 


https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2024-
2025/jails/2025.08.01 SDSO Response to GJ Rpt - Lowering Death Rates in Jails.pdf 


SDSO agreed with some of the findings of fact and disagreed with others in whole or in part. It 
responded to the Grand Jury recommendations as follows: 


Rec. 1: The recommendation to develop system-wide jail metrics to be used as performance 
indicators has been implemented. 


Rec. 2:  As recommended, SDSO has established performance metrics for the Medication 
Assisted Treatment program and will enhance the existing framework. 


Rec. 3: A system-wide jail metrics system targeting grievances will be implemented, with a 
target completion date of July 2026. 


Rec. 4: The Sheriff will develop metrics for CQI purposes targeting safety checks and their 
review by every level of command with a target completion date of October 2025. 


Rec. 5: There are technical difficulties which prevent the present ability to combine data 
concerning healthcare and custody functions.  The Sheriff is actively working to improve 
reporting mechanisms. 


Care First California  https://carefirstca.org/sdliveslost/ 


This report of in-custody deaths in San Diego County from 2011 to 2023 emphasized the point 
that the most common cause of death was “Natural”, and that, in fact, many of those deaths could 
have been prevented with better medical care and oversight. For example, they noted that the 
medical examiner ruled two in-custody deaths (Lonnie Rupard and Keith Bach) as “Homicide by 
neglect”. They recommended screening of deputies for drugs and better screening at intake for 
behavioral health issues, so that as appropriate, some individuals could be diverted out for 
behavioral health services, and those admitted with mental health issues receive better care, 
including proper medication and safety checks.   
 
POSSIBLE CAUSES OF PREVENTABLE JAIL DEATHS 



https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2024-2025/jails/2025.08.01%20SDSO%20Response%20to%20GJ%20Rpt%20-%20Lowering%20Death%20Rates%20in%20Jails.pdf

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/dam/sdc/grandjury/reports/2024-2025/jails/2025.08.01%20SDSO%20Response%20to%20GJ%20Rpt%20-%20Lowering%20Death%20Rates%20in%20Jails.pdf
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A cause of a jail death may not be straightforward, and not all jail deaths can be prevented. Some 
have purely medical causes that could not have been predicted in advance. Medical Examiners 
make determinations of a cause of death and also the manner of the death. Official manners of 
death usually include accidental, homicide, suicide, natural, or undetermined. For our purposes 
here, causes can be seen as underlying conditions that can contribute to a death. A “natural” 
death can be caused by not only a heart attack but also by a drug overdose or improper 
behaviors, such as neglect or mistreatment by staff.   


This list represents possible causes of preventable jail deaths and maltreatment that have been 
discovered in our research. The community may not know about all possible causes, partly 
because a “natural” death conclusion doesn't explain very much. A lack of transparency on the 
part of the sheriff can also be a factor. Furthermore, the sheriff and her staff may not have done 
enough analysis of problems in the jails to be aware of all possible causes. 
 
Inadequate or inappropriate care provided by deputies or behavioral health staff: Many 
preventable jail deaths had mental illness, other disabilities, or substance use as factors. Some 
examples are listed here: 


Elisa Serna admitted to the use of heroin and other drugs when she was booked. She was also 
pregnant.  Neither the doctor who was in charge of her booking or the doctor who “cared” for 
her on the last day of her life, followed drug withdrawal  protocol, even after she showed the 
signs of withdrawal that were witnessed by many, including the doctors. Both of these 
doctors have now had their license revoked. https://carefirstca.org/sdliveslost/ 


Brandon Yates, who had a history of Mental Illness, was placed in a cell with another man 
who was classified as “keep separate” due to his violent history. Brandon was beaten, 
tortured, stripped naked and murdered even though he pressed the panic button for help and 
others yelled for help for him. None came. 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/02/24/for-more-than-an-hour-he-called-for-
help-as-he-was-tortured-to-death-in-jail-no-one-came-his-family-says/ 


Recently the county sued the sheriff’s jail healthcare contractor NaphCare and its subcontractor, 
Liberty Healthcare for not providing adequate mental health care to Brandon Yates, who was 
killed by another incarcerated person in a cell that they shared. The county is facing a wrongful 
death lawsuit filed by the Yates family. https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/09/27/in-
rare-move-san-diego-county-sues-its-own-jail-healthcare-providers-over-brutal-cellmate-killing/ 


 
Disability Accommodations: The county was sued in 2022 by disability-rights attorneys who 
represent some 15 people who are currently or formerly incarcerated in San Diego County jails. 
The complaint accuses the sheriff of violating the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) by 
placing people with mobility issues in upper bunks, failing to provide sign-language interpreters 



https://carefirstca.org/sdliveslost/
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and not adhering to other rules. The sheriff agreed to comply with the ADA regarding detainees 
with special needs. The lawsuit alleged that the sheriff could do a better job of assigning housing 
to people when they are booked into custody. Too many detainees, like Nierobi Kuykendall, 
were placed in bunks they could not access, it added. Kuykendall relies on a wheelchair due to a 
prior back injury. In a sworn declaration, he said he was almost always assigned to a bunk he 
could not get into https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2023/06/20/sheriff-agrees-to-reforms-
to-improve-jail-conditions-for-disabled-people-in-custody/  
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/10ccBjzhsidbG_J94AYuFL-fcF9q7krA6  CBS 8 (January 
12, 2024) 


● Dominique McCoy was a 38-year-old whose probation term ended in 2021. He was 
nonetheless arrested Dec. 22, 2021, for allegedly violating the terms of his probation. 
When he went to court a week later, a judge ordered him to be released that day. But 
while processing his release, deputies placed McCoy in a cell with John Medina, an 18-
year-old Chula Vista man who had been arrested on suspicion of felony child cruelty and 
assault with a deadly weapon. Medina beat McCoy to death, the Sheriff’s Office said in a 
news release. https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2024/10/24/man-who-fatally-beat-
cellmate-at-san-diego-jail-sentenced/ 


● Vianna Granillo also died in sheriff’s custody when she should not have even been 
booked into jail, the review board investigation found. Granillo, who was 25, was 
suspected of violating a criminal protective order and found in possession of a small 
amount of drugs when sheriff’s deputies were executing a search warrant in Escondido in 
2022. The woman repeatedly told deputies she was not in violation of the order — a 
claim that was later confirmed by the District Attorney’s Office, the review board said. 
COVID-19 protocols in effect at the time called for Granillo to be issued a ticket on the 
drug charge rather than being taken to jail, the investigation found.But deputies 
transported her to the Las Coliñas women’s jail. She died days later after deputies found 
her in medical distress inside her cell. https://www.cbs8.com/article/news/local/guards-
failed-to-provide-cpr-to-dying-woman/509-1982a8ad-6d06-48cb-b684-f0164d104fc3 


● In another case, deputies stood by for months as Lonnie Rupard lost more than one-third 
of his body weight while repeatedly refusing meals, showers and day room visits, the 
Citizens’ Law Enforcement Review Board concluded. He was later found unresponsive 
in his feces-covered cell. “The evidence showed an egregious neglect of care and ultimate 
failure of the system,” the outside investigators said in a new report. 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/07/19/deputies-told-me-there-was-nothing-
they-could-do-weeks-of-suffering-preceded-mans-gruesome-jail-death-3-men-say/  


Health conditions: According to a state audit released two years ago, 185 people died in the 
Sheriff’s custody between 2006 and 2020 — the highest death rate among large California 
counties. Auditors said conditions in San Diego County jails were so dangerous that state 
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lawmakers should enact legislation to better protect the men and women in custody.  
https://information.auditor.ca.gov/pdfs/reports/2021-109.pdf 


Officer misconduct: Along with the above cases, there have been many times in the jails when 
deputies have neglected to do the rounds regularly or in a manner where they would be able to 
detect a problem.  This lack of concern we believe is a problem that permeates the San Diego 
County Jail culture.  We have been looking for instances where this is changing, but it seems that 
the sheriff will ask the staff to do the minimum of what is required and no more. 


Most of the following examples did not involve jail staff, but in the aggregate may suggest an 
organization-wide problem of leadership regarding ethics and oversight. These could be seen as 
rogue or individual “bad actors”, or they could be seen as a systems issue that needs systemic 
solutions that leadership would need to address. All of these occurred during the two-year period 
from 2021 to 2023.  


- Deputy Cory Richey was taken into custody after suspicion of 13 counts of burglary and 3 
counts of drug possession. 


- Former deputy Jaylen Fleer was sentenced to 12 years after pleading guilty to 18 felonies and 2 
misdemeanors related to illicit sex acts with a 14-year old girl. 


- Former Deputy Richard Fletcher was sentenced to 44 months in jail after pleading guilty to 4 
felony assault charges. He was accused by more than 15 women of sexual assault after 
responding to calls for help. 


- Former Sheriff’s Captain Marco Garmo was sentenced to 2 years  for using his badge to sell 
“off-roster” law-enforcement-only firearms to the public. He bought and sold about 104 guns 
over a six-year period, even after he was issued formal warnings to stop.  His lieutenant and two 
other deputies are being investigated for being part of it as well.  


- Jose Apolonio who worked as a deputy from 1998-2022 and then rehired part-time until his 
arrest in 2023 for possession of sexual abuse images and felony charges of lewd acts and 
continued sexual acts on a child. He pleaded guilty. 


- Former San Diego County sheriff’s sergeant Luis Rios pleaded guilty to a felony count of 
contacting a minor with the intent to commit a sexual offense in March 2022. 


- A former San Diego County sheriff’s deputy pleaded guilty to a felony count for having 
cocaine in his possessional the Vista Detention facility in 2023. His arrest was about a month 



https://information.auditor.ca.gov/pdfs/reports/2021-109.pdf
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after a different deputy was arrested and eventually pleaded guilty to taking prescription drugs 
from a drop box in a sheriff’s station.  


- Sheriff’s Deputy Jeremiah Flores was indicted on two charges related to excessive force on a 
pretrial detainee who Flores was escorting to a holding cell. The detainee had his legs chained 
and hands cross-chained. Upon reaching the holding cell, Flores pushed the detainee into the cell 
with such force that he collided with a bench and a wall where he sustained a head wound and 
spinal injury that caused him to be hospitalized for several months. He further falsified his report 
saying that no force was used.  


Illegal Drugs  This has been an ongoing problem with the Sheriff’s Office. While there are 
methods for detecting drugs brought in by Incarcerated Persons and visitors, in spite of those 
efforts, drugs still get into the jails. As noted in a January 20, 2023 U-T article,  


When it comes to preventing overdoses in San Diego County jails, where hundreds of 
incarcerated men and women suffered or died from fentanyl and other drugs last year, 
Sheriff’s Department officials have a fundamental disagreement with civilian oversight. 
The Citizens’ Law Enforcement Review Board recommended in August that “all persons 
be screened for illegal drugs every time they enter a county jail — employees, detainees, 
defense lawyers, contractors and others. Sheriff’s officials took more than four months to 
respond. When they answered, they said the idea was being rejected because they were 
concerned about the potential health effects of repeated exposure to low-level radiation 
from body scanners. They also said there was no evidence that employees are responsible 
for the influx of drugs into jails and that screening workers would undermine morale. 
‘Implementing this recommendation would require us to presume staff ... are actively 
engaged in bringing contraband into our facilities,” Lt. Edward Greenawald wrote in the 
December letter, released by the review board last week. ‘This action would represent a 
breach of the trust we have placed in them and result in grave consequences for morale 
and employee retention,’ he added. The review board’s [former] executive officer, Paul 
Parker, said he could not find research to support the department’s claim about 
radiation.As a  former police officer, Parker also questioned whether the screenings 
would harm morale. 


https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2023/01/15/sheriffs-department-rejects-
recommendation-to-drug-scan-everyone-entering-county-jails/ 


In August of 2024 the sheriff presented her new plans to screen for drugs: random screening with 
X-ray machines, drug-sniffing dogs and metal detectors.  However, these are only performed 
randomly. The public won’t know about them either beforehand or even after. There is no 
requirement for the Sheriff’s Office to let us know if there were one or one hundred screenings 
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done in a month, whether it is even done monthly or weekly, which sites were screened and what 
the results were.  Also, the fact that it is random leaves it open to those intending on sneaking in 
drugs to observe whether the dogs are there today or not and other ways for them to plan around 
the process. Clearly, there are gaping holes with this plan. 


Poor infrastructure and maintenance: A number of reports have described inmates calling for 
help, yet their intercoms or video cameras were not working and so no help came. There have 
been disgusting cases where plumbing has backed up and with little or slow reactions to deal 
with them. In at least one case, the inmate was required to clean it themselves. 


Triple bunking has been responsible for at least one death and is inappropriate for adults. It could 
be eliminated if there were more ways to divert those arrested or stopped into more appropriate 
settings. 


The lawsuit regarding disabilities accommodations mentioned above identified many 
opportunities for improvement of facilities. 


On July 30, 2025, the U-T reported that a judge criticized the sheriff for not preserving video 
regarding the in-custody death of William Hayden Schuck in 2022. He was a 22 year-old who 
was put in a holding cell and left, without a mattress for 5 days.  The day before he died a deputy 
noticed that he could barely stand, mentioned that he was thirsty yet nothing was done.  He died 
of dehydration. Much of the evidence points to him being forgotten. Without a working 
communication system, this is what can happen. This missing video would have shown if he was 
being checked regularly. On October 10, the U-T reported a follow-up.: 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/10/federal-judge-sanctions-san-diego-county-
for-erasing-critically-important-video-in-22-year-olds-jail-death/ 


Improper or inadequate staffing and training: We assume that most deputies are trying to do 
their best each day.  Some misbehavior by deputies may be due to inadequate qualifications of 
deputies or their training and supervision. Corrections deputies can be hired at age 19 rather than 
21, with lower pay and status. In the sheriff, the pay difference between a Deputy Sheriff (Law 
Enforcement) and a Deputy Sheriff-Detentions/Court Services (Corrections) is as follows: 


● Deputy Sheriff (Law Enforcement): 
Annual base pay ranges from $85,593.30 to $134,257.50. 


● Deputy Sheriff-Detentions/Court Services (Corrections): 
Annual base pay ranges from $81,217.50 to $114,411.70. 


Pay Difference: 
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● At the minimum, the Deputy Sheriff (Law Enforcement) earns $85,593.30 compared to 
$81,217.50 for Detentions/Court Services, a difference of $4,375.80 annually. 


● At the maximum, the Deputy Sheriff (Law Enforcement) earns $134,257.50 compared 
to $114,411.70 for Detentions/Court Services, a difference of $19,845.80 annually. 


A staffing issue addressed by the Critical Incident Review Board is whether or not a deputy 
being reviewed was properly trained and supervised, and whether or not policies and procedures 
were followed. 


Ineffective leadership: Interim Sheriff Tony Ray initiated regular meetings with community 
stakeholders. Sheriff Martinez discontinued these meetings. She has attended only one CLERB 
meeting, but has agreed to attend the November meeting. She continues to resist implementation 
of some recommendations (e.g. regarding SB 519 and some CLERB recommendations) without 
providing adequate rationales for noncompliance. Individual problems or incidents may be due 
to one employee not performing properly or a bad or improperly implemented procedure. If there 
are themes regarding problems, such as excessive preventable jail deaths,  drugs in the jails, 
problematic staff behavior, improper behavioral health services, or lack of compliance with 
accreditation or legal standards, that might point to leadership as a factor. There may be policies 
which do not clearly show expected and unacceptable behavior, management and supervisors 
may not be ensuring compliance, or staff may not be properly trained.  


POSSIBLE SOLUTIONS  
 
This section deliberately emphasizes possible solutions because this report uses only secondary 
data sources (e.g., news articles, reports, op ed pieces) and has not included full feasibility 
studies and best practices research. These possible solutions can nevertheless be used as starting 
points for advocates, the sheriff, the Board of Supervisors, and others who want to decrease 
preventable jail deaths and improve the treatment of Incarcerated Persons. Solutions involving 
jail processes and conditions should be understood to include best practice research to identify 
how solutions have been implemented in equivalent jail systems as well as local feasibility and 
cost analysis.  
 
A preventable jail death likely has multiple factors that contributed to the death. Based on the 
range and complexity of possible causes, solutions could be very specific, but more likely would 
need to address multiple factors suggesting a systems problem requiring multiple systems-level 
solutions. 
 
When considering costs, remember that county taxpayers have already spent over $75 million for 
bad practices (of the recent $15 million Serna settlement, $14 million will come from the 
General Fund). Solutions should address future cost avoidances. Any suggestions or 
recommendations to reduce preventable jail deaths should not be immediately rejected because 
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of potential costs or other impediments such as existing laws or regulations or collective 
bargaining agreements. Some changes may involve procedural, legislative or regulation changes, 
which should be factored into implementation scenarios. Costs, potential savings, and ultimate 
improvements for Incarcerated Persons, their families, and jail staff should also be taken into 
account.  
 
Better screening at intake: Opportunities for decreasing unnecessary deaths at the front end 
include diversion for health or disabilities prior to booking, a greater use of Book and Release, 
and bail reform (many jail deaths are of people not convicted of a crime). The county’s 
Alternatives to Incarceration initiative may offer other opportunities.  Behavioral health 
screening at intake by properly qualified staff may result in a hospital referral or additional 
services for those admitted, based on best practices standards.  
 
Screening of all staff for drugs 24/7: While the sheriff finally accepted the CLERB 
recommendation to screen staff for drugs, this is only being done on a random basis. Screening 
all staff using best practices procedures is likely to decrease the amount of drugs entering the 
jails.  
 
Improved training and supervision of deputies: Ensure that all deputies are fully trained for all 
expected duties and receive close enough supervision to ensure that standards are always met.  
Many death studies by the CLERB have not led to sustained findings because of technicalities, 
whereas improper or ineffective behavior by deputies clearly occurred.  
 
Use national best practice standards for deputy, medical, and behavioral health staff:  
Ensure that all policies and procedures for deputy, health, and mental health staff behavior meet 
best practices and relevant accreditation standards, and ensure ongoing quality assurance reviews 
and documentation of variation from standards with improvement plans.  
 
Implement continuous quality improvement in all jails: A recent Grand Jury report made 
excellent recommendations for better data dashboards and the use of CQI processes to identify 
quality problems and develop solutions and improvements. Changes are more likely to be 
implemented if organizational change best practices are used, with extensive involvement by all 
key stakeholders (including sworn and medical frontline staff, employee organizations, 
management staff, representation of incarcerated persons such as family members, and 
community advocates). 
 
Ensure full compliance with all disability laws and standards: This should include ongoing 
monitoring, documentation, and corrective actions. Regarding the lawsuit mentioned above, 
according to the August 13, 2025 U-T, while the sheriff had earlier committed to making 
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changes based on ADA compliance, health and mental health care in the jails remains 
inadequate. This case will proceed to trial. Experts on both sides are expected at the trial. 
 
Ensure full compliance with SB 519: Earlier in this report, the sheriff’s resistance to complying 
with aspects of SB 519 was reviewed. Many in the community have been advocating for the 
sheriff to fully comply with the requirements of SB 519.   
 
Implement all recommendations from past and current audits and fully document 
implementation and monitoring of results: For recommendations that are clearly not feasible, 
provide a detailed rationale for non-implementation and suggest variations that might address the 
identified problems.  
 
Fully implement and audit compliance with all commitments made through lawsuits: For 
example, recently announced changes based on the Serna lawsuit include no specifics regarding 
ongoing compliance and impacts on actual practices. Providing training for staff must be 
followed with documentation of the impact of the training on actual practice, on an ongoing 
basis. 
 
Document implementation of announced changes: Ensure precise, prompt, and ongoing 
documentation for all changes announced by the sheriff. In the spirit of CQI, continue to monitor 
data on implementation to see if the problem was solved. If it wasn’t, evaluate reasons why and 
identify ways to solve the problem. Be fully transparent in sharing information not only within 
the department but also with the community. 
 
Use Sheriff budget controls: The Board of Supervisors could more aggressively use its 
budgeting authority to get the sheriff to make changes. In 2024, the San Diego Democratic Party 
passed a resolution to connect the sheriff’s budget to decreasing preventable jail deaths 
(https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ktsFD7JEOny9PEhLLM2k_xqYB7FRjYqI/view). 
The Board could consider requiring that lawsuit payments currently paid from the General Fund 
will be paid from the sheriff’s budget. A May 16, 2025 editorial in the U-T suggested this. 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/05/16/how-to-limit-jail-deaths-local-attorney-has-
a-smart-suggestion/   This may further incentivize the sheriff to push harder for system change. 
This is controversial: it might lead to cuts that would impact the well-being of Incarcerated 
Persons 
 
Improve executive leadership to ensure needed systemic change: Leadership includes 
ensuring that organizational policies and values are well-understood and followed, as well as 
setting standards and ensuring that they are met. If the sheriff is willing and able, she could 
implement policy and program changes to ensure that needed system change occurs and is 
effective. This is likely to require a significant change in organizational culture, toward more 
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competent and compassionate treatment of Incarcerated Persons. This would require significant 
changes in leader behavior. 
 
If people in the community believe that the sheriff can’t or won’t use more effective leadership 
to implement the needed systemic change, there may be other options. The sheriff could be voted 
out of office or recalled. Perhaps the state constitution could be amended to allow an appointed 
sheriff.  A charter county such as San Diego may be able to develop procedures to remove a 
sheriff. (https://scocablog.com/sheriff-removal-procedures/).  Los Angeles County passed a 
measure that gives the Board of Supervisors authority to remove a sheriff with a 4-1 vote. 
(https://ballotpedia.org/Los_Angeles_County,_Measure_A,_Removal_of_Sheriff_for_Cause_A
mendment_(November_2022). The San Mateo County Board of Board of Supervisors will vote 
this month based on a County Charter amendment in March 2025 outlining provisions for 
removing a sheriff, including “flagrant or repeated neglect of a sheriff’s duties”. A 4-1 vote is 
required:(https://www.rwcpulse.com/san-mateo-county/2024/12/27/measure-a-explained-the-
charter-amendment-that-could-let-supes-remove-sheriff-corpus/,  
https://calmatters.org/justice/2025/07/san-mateo-sheriff-removal-complaint/).  
 
On October 21,2025, the Board of Supervisors discussed a proposal by Supervisor Monica 
Montgomery-Steppe to create an office of  Inspector General to monitor the Sheriff’s Office and 
make recommendations for change. This would augment but not duplicate current mechanisms 
such as the CLERB. (https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/18/montgomery-steppe-
proposes-new-oversight-body-for-sheriffs-office/) 
 
There may be another way for the Board of Supervisors to take control of the jails. According to 
the U-T on May 13, 2025 (https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/05/13/rikers-island-
ruling/). A federal judge took control of New York City’s Rikers Island jail and appointed an 
independent official to run it.  
 
Ensure that all equipment in jails, including video cameras and communication equipment 
always function, and preserve video: An article in the Union-Tribune on August 12, 2025 
reported on a request from the community to the CLERB to ensure that video records in the jails 
are maintained and available for investigations.  The article reported that an attorney working 
with affected families noted that over half of their cases had missing audio or video. Many calls 
for help have gone unnoticed due to a broken intercom from cells to deputies. There should be a 
backup of devices so that when one breaks it could easily be replaced quickly.  
 
Consider a more desirable pay structure for those deputies in jails: Lower pay dissuades the 
hiring of more competent staff.  
 
Strengthen the authority of the CLERB, including expediting implementation of CLERB 



https://scocablog.com/sheriff-removal-procedures/?print=print

https://ballotpedia.org/Los_Angeles_County,_Measure_A,_Removal_of_Sheriff_for_Cause_Amendment_(November_2022)
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oversight of civilian staff. This change was recently approved by the Board of Supervisors.  
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/09/30/supervisors-take-final-step-to-approve-first-
of-its-kind-civilian-oversight-of-jail-healthcare-providers/ 
 
Improve oversight and transparency of the Critical Incident Review Board: The attorney 
present at CIRB meetings should be representing the citizens’ rather than the sheriff’s interests. 
The attorney present at these meetings is representing the sheriff. Some suggest that he/she 
should be representing the people.  
 
This list of possible solutions to the problems of preventable jail deaths and mistreatment of 
Incarcerated Persons is not exhaustive.  It represents ideas we gathered from sources including 
community advocates, family members who have had a relative die in the jails, experts in 
corrections reform, legislation, news media reports, and lawsuits. Some ideas would require 
further study regarding their feasibility and appropriateness. Making major progress on these 
problems will involve a complex combination of actions to address causes that range from 
individual cases to the systems level.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR HUMANE AND EFFECTIVE INCARERATION 
 
Clearly, everybody wants change in this area. However, to date, existing changes have not been 
nearly enough, suggesting that more wide-ranging change is needed. 
 
The LWV does not have the knowledge and expertise to make specific recommendations 
regarding reducing preventable jail deaths. This report has used the experiences and expertise of 
others, including corrections experts, researchers, journalists, advocates, and family members of 
people who have died in the jails, to identify major themes regarding how the jails as a system 
are operating, focusing on factors associated with preventable jail deaths. Our statements, which 
seem to be worded as recommendations, are ideas for consideration that come from the point of 
view of concerned citizens, not corrections experts.  
 
A major, if not the major, theme expressed by many concerned about jail deaths involves 
transparency and accountability on the part of the sheriff. As noted in this report, the sheriff has 
no official accountability to the community or Board of Supervisors other than her being elected 
by county voters. The sheriff promised to be transparent in sharing information, but many in the 
community believe she has not done nearly enough. Sometimes the sheriff legitimately 
withholds information regarding personnel actions, but there are many areas in which the sheriff 
could be more forthcoming in sharing information with the community. 
 
While we are not making specific recommendations for implementation, we do offer 
recommendations regarding what people in the community can do to help.  
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● First, the more informed community members are about current conditions and issues, the 
more impactful they may become. Along with the process of ongoing learning, 
community members can attend and speak at meetings of the CLERB, the Board of 
Supervisors, and the County Behavioral Health Advisory Board. Systems change can be 
advanced by developing relationships with County Supervisor staffs and state legislative 
offices, and supporting and encouraging their work in system reform in the jails.  


● Second, on a more personal level, concerned community members can support affected 
family members and advocates by attending rallies, press conferences, and town hall 
meetings, and perhaps joining an advocacy group. 


 
NOTE: The CLERB also has oversight over the County Probation Department, where many of 
the issues identified in the jails are also problems in youth detention. The Probation Department 
was not addressed in this report, but warrants further study and involvement of the community.  
 
If the public finds, after reading this, that they wish to engage in the dialogue to promote change 
in the way our local jails are operated, or simply to find out more information, there are many 
ways to accomplish this. Community members can attend and speak at meetings of CLERB, the 
Board of Supervisors, and the County Behavioral Health Advisory Board. Systemic change can 
be advanced by developing relationships with staff at the Board of Supervisors and state 
legislative offices who are working on these issues. On a more personal level, concerned 
community members can support affected family members and advocates for reform by 
attending rallies, press conferences, and town hall meetings. 
 
It should be noted that this report does not address the incarceration of youth in local facilities 
operated by the San Diego County Probation Department. However, this area of concern 
warrants further study and community involvement. 
 
Finally, the League of Women Voters will continue to seek information about conditions in local 
jails. We will also continue to connect with organizations and advocates who believe, as we do, 
that the legitimacy that is needed to support the rule of law can only be sustained if the values of 
fairness and decency are upheld and fought for by an informed and involved public. To that end, 
we will continue to share information with the public whether in presentations open to the public 
or in published media. 
 
 
PRIMARY INFORMATION SOURCES  
 
California State Auditor's Report (2022) 
 
Care First California Report (2025) 
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Mountain Whisper Light Study (2023) 


San Diegans for Justice Report (2022) 


Rosen Bien Galvan &  Grunfeld, LLP https://rbgg.com/san-diego-county-jails-suit-info/ 
 
San Diegans for Justice https://www.sandiegansforjustice.com/ 
 
San Diego County Grand Jury reports (2018, 2023, 2025) 
 
San Diego Sheriff’s Citizens’ Law Enforcement Review Board 
https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/clerb/about/ 
 
San Diego Sheriff’s Office https://www.sdsheriff.gov/ 
 
San Diego Union-Tribune, particularly through the reporting by Jeff McDonald and Kelly Davis 
(including the Dying Behind Bars series in September of 2019), and the paper's editorials.  
 
Our thanks to Deidre McLeod for her wonderful painstaking research that helped us find many 
of the articles that we have used in this report. 
 
Senate Bill 519 
 
 
 


APPENDIX 
 
Definitions:  


1. (a) For purposes of this report, the following definitions shall apply: 


(1) Narcan (the brand name known for Naloxone) is a life-saving medication that can quickly 
restore the breathing of a person experiencing an opioid overdose 
(2) “Local detention facility” means any county or court holding facility, private detention 
facility, or other facility in which persons are incarcerated. 
(3) Jail Deaths - These are deaths to people who have been incarcerated for more than 24 hours 
in San Diego County Jails, whether they died in the jail or were taken to a hospital due to a 
condition in the jail. 
(4) San Diego County jails - This includes the 7 jails in our system: George Bailey, Central Jail, 
East Mesa, Las Coliñas, Rock Mountain,, South Bay and Vista Detention Centers. We will also 
include in some parts the Youth Transitional Facility. 



https://rbgg.com/san-diego-county-jails-suit-info/

https://www.sandiegansforjustice.com/

https://www.sandiegocounty.gov/content/sdc/clerb/about/

https://www.sdsheriff.gov/
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(5) “Custodial officer” means those officers with the rank of deputy, correctional officer, patrol 
person, or another equivalent sworn or civilian rank whose duties include the supervision of 
incarcerated or detained persons at a local detention facility. 
(6) “Health care staff” means the health authority, individual, or agency that is designated with 
responsibility for providing health care in the local detention facility. 
(7) Cause - It is important to be aware that when the cause is listed as a “Natural Cause”, it might 
have been avoided if they had had basic living conditions. 
(8) Method 0f Death - The cause and method of death can be different. An overdose of a drug 
can cause a person to stop breathing. The method can be a heart attack but the cause is an 
overdose.  
 
 







From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 10-27-25
Date: Monday, October 27, 2025 1:54:40 PM

Sheriff must do more to prevent jail deaths, nonprofit finds in study. Here’s what it
recommends.

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/26/sheriff-must-do-more-to-prevent-
jail-deaths-nonprofit-finds-in-study-heres-what-it-recommends/

 
Best regards - Brett
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From: Kalina, Brett on behalf of CLERB
To: Kalina, Brett
Subject: Media Update 10-29-25
Date: Wednesday, October 29, 2025 3:08:46 PM

Please note, CLERB staff have not verified any of the media information or sources.

 
Statement on Jail Death Settlement

Significant changes continue to be made in county jails.

Post Date: 10/29/2025 1:00 PM

 

First and foremost, any loss of life in our custody is profoundly felt—these individuals are not
statistics or case numbers. They are someone’s family member, friend, and loved one. We
take these tragedies to heart, and they deepen our commitment to ensuring that every
person entrusted to our care is treated safely, humanely, and with dignity.

In March 2022, Hayden Schuck was arrested for driving under the influence of drugs and other
charges. The San Diego County Medical Examiner's Office ruled the cause of his death was the
result of complications of cocaine and methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) toxicity,
and the manner of death was accidental.

Mr. Schuck died prior to Sheriff Kelly Martinez taking office in 2023. Since that time, significant
improvements have been made to our jail system. 

Much more is needed, which will require significant investment from the County of San Diego.

It is important to note that the money for the settlement will come out of the Sheriff's Office's
budget. Despite this fact, the Sheriff's Office had no participation or input on the recent
settlement decision by the County of San Diego.

San Diego County Jail System

With an average daily population of approximately 4,400 individuals across seven detention
facilities, the San Diego County jail system is one of the largest and most complex in California.
Many of the individuals in our custody arrive with serious untreated medical conditions,
mental illness, or substance use disorders, making a structured and evidence-based model of
healthcare essential.

Improvements To San Diego's Jails Have Been Significant

Under the leadership of Sheriff Martinez, the Sheriff’s Office has implemented significant

mailto:/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=E105D2CDB6E94FB68A795FFA35E9B308-585D7145-35
mailto:CLERB@sdcounty.ca.gov
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reforms focused on accountability, expanded access to healthcare, and enhanced staff
training. In collaboration with our contracted medical partners, nearly 50,000 individuals
receive care within our facilities every year, and our operations align with national standards,
including those established by the National Commission on Correctional Health Care (NCCHC).

Many of our detention facilities were constructed decades ago, and some continue to operate
with aging infrastructure and outdated technology.

With support from the County of San Diego, we are advancing major modernization efforts,
including ADA-compliance upgrades across multiple facilities and moving into the design
phase to replace our oldest jail in Vista with a modern, purpose-built facility that enhances
safety, healthcare delivery, and transparency.

As infrastructure funding becomes available, these older systems are being systematically
replaced with modern camera platforms that support longer retention, improved coverage,
and greater reliability.

Positive Results

These reforms are producing measurable results. Over the last year, San Diego County jails
recorded the lowest number of in-custody deaths in more than a decade, experienced a 65
percent reduction in overdoses, and saw zero suicides in 2024; the first time that has occurred
in more than 20 years.

In Conclusion

We understand and respect that litigation is an important part of accountability.

At the same time, improvements made since 2022 are improving the operations,
expectations, medical processes, and technology within our jails. The Sheriff’s Office remains
committed to learning from the past while continuing forward progress and ensuring that past
deficiencies are not repeated.

We will continue to share data, reforms, and outcomes publicly as we modernize our jail
system and improve the care and conditions for every person entrusted to our custody.

 
‘Like the walls are closing in’: After parallel jail deaths, judge urged to limit sheriff’s use
of solitary confinement

https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/20/like-the-walls-are-closing-in-after-
parallel-jail-deaths-judge-urged-to-limit-sheriffs-use-of-solitary-confinement/

 

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
Subject: Media Update 10-30-25
Date: Thursday, October 30, 2025 6:12:24 AM

County will pay $16M over 22-year-old’s death in San Diego jail, its biggest such settlement ever
 
https://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/2025/10/29/county-will-pay-16m-over-22-year-olds-death-
in-san-diego-jail-its-biggest-such-settlement-ever/

 
 
Best regards - Brett
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